
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA | COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
COUNTY OF COLLETON FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
State of South Carolina, Indictment Nos. 2022-GS-15-00592, -593,

594, and -595

* MOTION FOR SANCTIONS
Richard Alexander Murdaugh,

Defendant.

Defendant Richard Alexander Murdaugh, through undersigned counsel, pursuant to Rule
5(a)(1 ofthe South Carolina Rulesof Criminal Procedure, hereby moves the Court 0 prohibit the
State from offering at trial any testimony regarding blood spatter from Tom Bevel, any other
principal, associate, or employee of Bevel, Gamer & Associates, LLC, or any officerofthe State

orotherperson whose opinion derives from review ofMr. Bevel’s work product,as asanction for
Mz. Bevel and the State's deliberate refusal to comply with the Courts order compelling
production of documents related to Ms. Bevels opinions. Further, Mr. Murdaugh requests the
Court award him costs and reasonable attorney's fecs incurred in the motion practice concerning
Mr Bevel. Mr. Murdaugh however asks that the Court delay considering tis request fo costs and
fees until afer tia

I Introduction
On June 7, 2021,Alex Murdaugh's wifeMageand son Paul were brutally murderednear

the dog kennels at a family home on Moselle Road in Colleton County. As Mr. Murdaugh has
noted in previous motions, the Stat immediately decided Alex was guilty, before anyone collected,
investigated, or reviewed any evidence and, unable to buildasolid case against Mr. Murdaugh to
present in cour, instead engaged in a campaign of lective and deceptive leaks to news media to
convince the public that Murdaugh s guily before he is tried. Perhaps the most extraordinary leak

occurred in April 2022, when the State told FITSNews that “A shit worn by Alex Murdaugh on
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the night his wife and son were murdered was found to have a significant amountofhigh-velocity

impact spatter on it from at least one of their bodies,” and that “[iJhe presence of this forensic

evidence on his clothing ‘could have only come from one thing,” i.c., “the spatter indicates that

Murdaugh was physically close to one or more of his family members when they were shot.”

Mandy Matney, High-Velocity Impact Spatter DirectlyTies Alex Murdaugh To Double Homicide,

Sources Say, FITSNews (Apr. 26, 2022). The only possible motive for this leak was to convince

the public that Mr. Murdaugh was guiltyofthe murders before trial, even before he was formally

charged. This leak was an extrajudicial statement made onbehalfof the State with the deliberate

intention toprejudicethe present judicial proceedings.

It was alsoa lie.

‘The leaked information was the purported opinion of Tom Bevel of Bevel, Gardner &

Associates, Inc., (BGA) in Oklahoma. Mr. Bevel is a retired Oklahoma City police officer with

10 credentials in any scientific discipline. On the nightofthe murders, the South Carolina Law

Enforcement Division (SLED) collected the white cotton T-shirt Mr. Murdaugh was wearing when

he discoveredMaggieand Paul's bloody bodies. SLED retained Mr. Bevel toopinethat T-shirt is

stained with high-velocity bloodspatter that could only come from being in proximity with them

at the timeoftheir murders. It did so even though the State knew on August 10,2021—almost six

weeks before first reaching out to Mr. Bevel on September 21st—that confirmatory blood tests

results were definitively negative for human blood in all areasofthe shirtwhere purported spatter

is present. SLED never told Mr. Bevel the shirt definitively tested negative for human blood before

Mr. Bevel produced his report. In fact, the State never toldhim until aftr defense counsel mailed

acopyofthe report directly to Mr. Bevelasan attachmentto acopy ofa public court filing.
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However, even without knowing the shirt tested negative for human blood, Mr. Bevel’s

initial report correctly determined there was no high-velocity blood spatter on the shirt. It also

stated that spatter was unlikely to be on the shooter at all. Only after badgering and a personal

visit from SLED officials did Mr. Bevel change his report both to say that it tums out abundant

spatter is on the T-shirt after all, and that spatter likely would be on the person who shot Paul

(although Paul's DNAisnot found on the areasofthe shirt Mr. Bevel now says have spatter). In

reaching this opposite conclusion, Mr. Bevel cited no new evidence except an in-person

examination of the T-shirt—afie it was destroyed for purposes of forensic testing by the

unnecessary applicationofan oxidizing chemical stain, and affer Mr. Bevel fold the State it had

no evidentiary value to him. The inspection was just an excuse to pay Mr. Bevel a visit by having

senior SLED agents act as couriers for the remnants of the T-shirt. Mr. Bevel admits his opinion

was not changed by the inspection; instead, he claims his opinion changed when he realized he

‘could use Photoshop to alter pre-destruction photographs of the T-shirt.

Allthiscameto light because SLED disclosedacopy ofMr. Bevel's first report by mistake

and because Mr. Murdaugh’s counsel requested a microscopic examinationofthe T-shirt, forcing

the State to admit it had been destroyed. Based on the destructionof the T-shirt and evident bad-

faith conduct surrounding the spatter analysis, Mr. Murdaugh moved to exclude it under State »

Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 552 S.E.2d 300 (2001), and asked for an evidentiary hearing. (Mot.

Exclude, Nov. 23, 2022) Mr. Murdaugh also moved to compel production of Mr. Bevel’s case

file, including communications, photographs, or other documents given to or received from him

by SLED. (Mot. Compel, Nov. 28, 2022) The Court granted the motion to compel orally on

December 9, 2022, and later in writing on December 19, 2022.
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I. Background

Below is a comprehensive timelineof events related to Mr. Bevel’s role in this case. The

timeline naturally separates into three phases. First, SLED is so frustrated by its inability to find

evidence to support ts inital assumption that Mr. Murdaugh is guilty that it decides to hire a blood

spatter expert to opine on Mr. Murdaugh’s T-shirt even though there is no blood on the shirt

Second, when SLED receives Mr. Bevel’ initial report—yet anotherdeadend inis quest to prove

an innocent man’s guilt—it responds by getting him to reverse it, then leaksthenewopinionto the

public. Third, SLED is caught in this lie by its own ineptitude, but doubles down, offering

contradictory excuses, weird at-home science fair experiments, and a regurgitation of Mr. Bevel’s

report from a straw-man former SLED agent—all while openly defying the Courts order for

productionofrelevant materials.

A. SLED tries but fail to find evidence against Alex Murdaugh.

June 7, 2021: Maggie and Paul are murdered. SLED collects Alex's clothing.

June 8, 2021: The white T-shirt Alex was wearing is tested for gunshot primer residue

(GSR). Only three particles of GSR are found, which SLED analysts believe is consistent with

transfer from recently holding a firearm and not necessarily indicative of having recently fired a

firearm.

June9,2021: A smal cutting is taken from the front hemofthe T-shirt and tested with a

presumptive test for blood in which hemoglobin catalyzes the oxidation of colorless

phenolphthalin into pink phenolphthalein. A presumptive test only indicates the possible presence

of blood. Many chemicals, including fabric detergent residues, can also cause the oxidative

reaction, so the test is not conclusive for the presenceofblood. The cutting responds positively to

the presumptive test and is tested for DNA. Mr. Bevel will later concede blood and DNA on the
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bottomofhis shirt are transfers from touching his family’sbodiesand wiping his hands and face

on hisshirt,and not the result ofhigh-velocity spatter. Seefigure I, infra.

Figure |

June25,2021: SLED issues the DNA report for the small cutting from the bottom hem of

Mr. Murdaugh’s T-shirt. It tests positive for Maggie's DNA and an unknown person. Paul is

excluded as a DNA contributor.

July7,2021: Senior Special Agent David Owen, the lead case agent, and his superior,

Charles Ghent, SLED Lieutenant for the Low Country Region, brief their superior, Ryan Neill,

SLED Captain for the Low Country Region, on the investigation, which is not going well.

Thereafter, Capt. Neill speaks with Samuel Reighley, Jr, another SLED Captain with a leadership.

role in forensic services, o ask, “Questions about Alex's shirt and how it was examined and blood

‘was indicated” and to express concern over the “Lackof photographsof blood stains, and the poor

qualityof those that were taken.” Capt. Reighley informs Capt. Neill that SLED has no bloodstain
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expert on staff. Capt. Neill notes thatifneeded he will investigate using former SLED special

agent Kenny Kinsey, nowChiefDeputy at the Orangeburg County SherifP’s Office.

July 20,2021: Capt. Reighley tells Capt. Neill that “(Crime Scene]and Serology are going

to process Alex's shirt again (Spray with LCV/or something similar).” LCV is leucocrystal violet,

another presumptive test for blood, in which hemoglobin catalyzes the oxidation of LCV to a

purple color. Capt. Neill notes Deputy Kinsey had agreed to look at photosofthe T-shirt “to see

ifBlood Pattern [analysis] would be beneficial.”

July21,2021: SLED tests the T-shirt with LCV. The testing is conducted by Lt. Kukila

Wallace of SLED’s erime scene forensics unit. The T-shirt is photographed, hung, sprayed with

LCV, photographed again, then laid out and gridded with string. Large areasofthe shirt containing

spots that immediately reacted with the LCV are cut from the shirt and sent for DNAtesting, which

is conducted by SLED analyst Sarah Zapata. The DNAtests are conducted on several unlabeled

sub-cuttings from each larger cutting.

Aside effectof his testing is that it effectively destroys the shirt. The LCV oxidizes more:

rapidly in the presence of catalyzing chemicals like blood or laundry detergent residue, but

eventually it all oxidizes, the entire shirt tums purple, and all details bleed into large diffuse

splotches. SLED could have conducted the same test with luminol, which would rot destroy the

shirt. Had the T-shirt been purple or black, luminol would have been required. But luminol

produces a luminescent reaction, which would require turning the lightsoff in the room and taking

photographs in the dark, which would be slightly more difficult than photographing purple stains

ona whiteT-shirt in a room with normal lighting. SLED chose to save that light amountofeffort

at the expenseofdestroying the evidence.
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More importantly, itis unclear how a color-stain test could possiblyhelpdetect blood stains

on a white cotton T-shirt that had never been washed since the murders. Accordingto Mr. Bevel,

high-velocity spatter droplets have a diameter of1mm or less. With normal vision the unaided

human eye can see spots as small a 0.1 mm. Any spatter would have been visible without staining.

Regardless, turning a tiny dark red spot on a white background into a tiny purple spot in no way

‘makes the spot more visible.

July 25,2021: SLED issues the DNA reportforthe cuttings made on July 21st. One cutting

from the back of the shirt tested positive for Maggie's DNA. Paul was excluded as a DNA

contributor for that cutting. Ofthe cuttings from the front bottom portionofthe shirt (which the

State admits are not spatter) tested, one tested positive for Paul's DNA while excluding Maggie as

a contributor, one tested positive for Maggie's DNA while excluding Paul, and a third tested

positive for Maggie without excluding Paul. The cuttings from the upper two-thirdsofthe front

ofthe shirt (which the State claims are spatter from shooting Paul) generally tested positive for

Maggie’s DNA with Paul either excluded or not considered becauseofhis relatedness to the other

contributors. None tested positive for Paul's DNA.

August 10, 2021: SLED takes more sub-cuttings from the larger cuttings from the T-shirt

and Ms. Zapata performs HemaTrace tests to confirm the presence of human blood. HemaTrace

is an immunochromatographic test thatdetects a reaction between dye-conjugated antibodies and

a formof hemoglobin found only in humans and higher primates. It is commonly used to confirm

the presenceofhuman blood (or any other human tissue containing tracesofblood or hemoglobin).

It is highly sensitive, able to detect as litle as four micrograms of blood in a sample. For

comparison, a single grainoffinely ground table salt weighs about 60 micrograms. Every cutting

from the shirt tested negativefor human blood.
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September21,2021: Lt. Jeffrey Crooks of SLED's latent print department first reaches out

to Mr. Bevel, sending an email stating, “My agency has a case that requires BPA [blood pattem

analysis) analysis, and we are currently not working BPA cases. We would like to discuss

potentially hiring your organizationtoconduct the analysis.” Although Deputy Kinsey, currently

employed as a South Carolina law enforcement officer, had agreed to assist, no one followed up

with himafterthe LCV testing on July 25th. Instead, SLED waited two months then contacted a

retired Oklahoma police officer.

‘September23,2021: Mr. Bevel provides anestimateto SLEDof $11,800 for analysis and

a written report.

September29,2021: Emily Reinhart, SLED captain for forensic administration, meets with

Capt. Reighly, Lt. Wallace, Lt. Schenk (the other SLED crime scene lieutenant), and Lt. Hash

(SLED’s head of DNA testing) regarding testing of possible blood on a seat belt. Capt. Reinhart

directs “If LCV is used, it is understood that no HemaTrace testing would be done by DNA.

‘Samples would go straight to DNA.” It appears that SLED, in response to the known but as-yet

unreported negative Hemarace results on Mr. Murdaugh's T-shirt, has decided to avoid the

possibility that the HemaTrace confirmatory test would contradict the presumptive LCV test.

SLED appears to want the option to say that anything that reacts with LCV—animal blood, plant

material, food residue, household cleaners—and has any amount of DNA from Maggie or Paul—

essentially, anything they ever touched—has their blood on it, instead of actually testing for the

presenceofhuman blood.

October12,2021: Lt. Wallace informs Mr. Bevel that SLED would like to move forward

with retaining Mr. Bevel in this case and asks Mr. Bevel to provide next steps. Mr. Bevel responses
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thatcase materials should be sent to 1007S. Pickard St., Norman, Oklahoma, which is Mr. Bevel’s

‘home address. Seefigure 2, infra.
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Figure 2

November 10, 2021: SLEDissuesasupplemental reporttothe July 25th report, noting “no

‘human blood detected” for each cutting from the T-shirt. Forsomereason, this report is not issued

until three months after the tests were conducted. By comparison, the DNA report was issued only

four days after the larger cuttings were submitted for testing.

December15,2021: Lt. Ghent tells Mr. Bevel that case documents will be transferred via

evidence.com and “In the event any physical evidence is need for your work, Lt. Kukila Wallace

will coordinate shipping this to you.”
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January 4, 2022: The evidence.com link is re-sent to Mr. Bevel and case documents

transmitted to Mr. Bevel for review. The HemaTrace testresultsare withheld from Mr. Bevel.

February 4, 2022 (Friday): Mr. Bevel provides SLED his initial report, dated February 3rd,

opining that “stains on the white t-shirt are consistent with transfers and not back spatter from a

bullet wound” (emphasis in original). This initial report also opines that he would expect “litle to

no spatter on the shooter or [his/her] clothing” resulting from the shooting of Paul and none

resulting from the shootingofMaggie. Mr. Bevel further opines, “For there to be tle to no back

spatteron the shooter or theyre [sic] clothing is certainly possible for this incident.”

B. SLED and Mr. Bevel decide to fabricate evidence against Alex Murdaugh.

February 7, 2022 (Monday): Agent Owen meets with Capt. Neill, Lt. Ghent, and Crime

Scene personnel to discuss Mr. Bevel's report. After the meeting, Agent Owen asks Mr. Bevel to

speak with them via Zoom the next day.

February 8, 2022: Mr. Bevel has a Zoom conference with Agent Owen and others at SLED

10 discuss his report. During this Zoom conference, Mr. Bevel asks to inspect the T-shirt.

February 15, 2022: Lt. Wallace and Lt. Schenk examine the T-shirt and determine it is

destroyed for purposes of further testing due to LCV oxidation. Lt. Wallace takes photographs of

the shirt with a cell phone and sends it to Lt. Ghent. Lt. Ghent emails the photographs to Mr.

Bevel, asking him “whether the shirt in this condition will still be of potential use for your

examinationofthe stains in question” and stating, “Ifyou believe so, we will make arrangements

to have the shirt and the cuttings delivered to you.” Mr. Bevel replies, “I would say that it doesn’t

look promising but ifI testify at a trial I would prefer to say that I saw it in person to make that

determination and the cuttings are probably more important than the restofthe shirt. So yes please

send them 1007 § Pickard Ave, Norman, OK 73069.” As noted above, that is Bevel’s home.

address. Seefigure 2, supra.
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February16,202: Agent Owen emails Mr. Bevel that “Due to chainofcustody issues, I

will hand deliver the shirt for your review,” and proposes doing so in the week of March 7th to

1th.

‘February17,2022: Mr. Bevel tells Agent Owen that chain-of-custody issues do not require:

him to deliver the shirt in person in Oklahoma. SLED nonetheless decides to send both Agent

Owen and Lt. Wallace to Oklahoma as couriers to deliver the T-shirt, even though it has already

been determined to be useless as evidence.

March1,2022: Agent Owen informs Mr. Bevel that he and Lt. Wallace will travel to

‘Oklahomatomeetwith him on March 10th.

March 6, 2022: Mr. Bevel emails Agent Owen:

“The photos of the shirt the lab took before chemical processing, I assume there is
an original format and size that is better than the oneI have to work with. Before
‘coming out to OK can you check to seeifthere are more photos and get them in the
original format and size. There should also be photos taken right after applying the
chemical can we get them?

Please get a copy of any lab notes which should include their observations and a
sketch with size measurements and locations on the shirt.

Agent Owen responds “Yes sir. 1 will workonthat”

March 7, 2022: Mr. Bevel again emails Agent Owen:

T have been working on enhancementsofthe overall photosofthe frontofthe shirt
and see some possible tiny stains that may be spatter. With a higher a quality photo
we may be able to state more than I thought we could with what I have currently
received. The larger elongated stain we focused on that was easy to see in the
photos is not what I'm looking for, i’s the tiny stains which I'm hoping the lab
notes will address and higher quality photos will show.

March 9, 2022: Agent Owen and Lt. Wallace travel to Oklahomato meet with Mr. Bevel.

March 10, 2022: Agent Owen and Lt. Wallace travelto Oklahomato meet with Mr. Bevel

to discuss his report. They meet at the police laboratory at 1501 W. Lindsey St, Norman,
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‘Oklabioma. Lt. Wallace forwards an email to Mr. Bevel attaching a photocopy of what appear to

beherhandwrittennotesonthe case.

March 11, 2022 (Friday): Agent Owen and Lt. Wallace travel back to South Carolina. Mr.

Bevel responds to Lt. Wallace's email, stating “Got the notes and they were helpful in a better

‘overall understanding ofthe scene and processing.” Thenotesdo not appearon thelist of materials

considered for any version of Mr. Bevel's report.

March 14, 2022 (Monday): Mr. Bevel emails Agent Owen to tell him that “With the large

CD format, we were able tofilterthe colors ofthe shirt using Photoshop focusing on red (blood)

‘and blue (LCV) and whiteoftheshirt,”that now “There are over 100+ spatter stains,” and “Bottom

line I don’t see any other mechanism to get so many misting stains onto his shirt other than the

‘spatter created from the shotgun wounding”ofPaul.

March 21, 2022: AgentOwenenthusiasticallyrepliesto Mr. Bevel’s March 14th email:

Good afternoon Tom,
Just inquiring about Peer Review and report status.
‘Thank you sir!
David

March 22, 2022: Agent Owen receives a revised report from Mr. Bevel, opining that “100+

stains are consistent with spatteron the frontofthe t-shirt.” This final report also eliminates the

opinion that Mr. Bevel would expect “litle to no spatter on the shooter or [his/her] clothing”

resulting from the shootingofPaul, instead opining that “due to gravity along with blood impacting

these areas with sufficient force secondary spatter may also have been created raining down back

into the scene and potentially on the shooter” and “The shooter is certainly in a close enough range

to get spatter on their clothing.” Mr. Bevel changed his previous statement, “For there to be little

10 no back spatter on the shooter or theyre [sic] clothing i certainly possible for this incident,” to
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read “For there to be spatter on the shooter or their clothing it is certainly possible given the facts

and circumstances surrounding this incident.”

The items listed under “The following information was considered in this analysis” are

identical to those listed for hs inital report except for a single addition: the viewingofthe T-shirt

at the on March 10th. There is no mentionofany “RAW” image files, or any other photographs

not considered when producing the initial report in February.

‘When Agent Owen confirmed receipt, he asked Mr. Bevel, “is Ken Martin the only that did

peer review? 1 wasunderthe impression there would be a round table of5 to 6 colleagues.” Ken

Martin is an associate employed by Mr. Bevel’s firm.

March23.2022: Agent Owen discussed the revised report with Mr. Bevel. Based on emails

that day and the previous day, the nature ofthe discussion appears to be to correctionoftypos in

the revised report.

March 29, 2022: Mr. Bevel provides his final report, largely identical to his previous

revised report butaddingthe followingat the endofthe report:

‘The t-shirt has been evaluated by six (6) recognized Bloodstain Pattern experts all
agreeing the best explanation for the stains on the shirt are spatter from
‘approximately the bottom third up to the topofthe shirt and transfers on the bottom
third down 10 the hem of the t-shirt, All agree they cannot identify some other
‘mechanism to create the distribution and sizesofthe questioned stain spatter.

The identity of these “recognized Bloodstain Pattern experts” is undisclosed. This addition

obviously is in response to Agent Owen's request on March 22, 2022, for a “round table” of

reviewers agreeing with the report.

The items listed under “The following information was considered in this analysis” are

identical to those listed for his revised report except for one addition: anote about using forensic

mannequins with dowel rods to understand “possible body positions when the deceased were
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shot.” There is no mention of any “RAW” image files, or any other photographs not considered

whenproducing the initial report in February.

‘April20,2022: Mr. Bevel sends SLED an invoice for $10,988.75 (invoice dated April

18th). The invoiceaddress for payment remission is 7601 Sunset Sail Ave.,Edmond, Oklahoma,

‘which is the home addressofCraig Gravel, a retired Oklahoma police officer who is a partner at

Bevel, Gardner & Associates. See Figure 3, infra.

WE

of=
Figure 3

April26,2022: SLED leaks the blood spatter “evidence” to FITSNews in a calculated

attempt to prejudice criminal proceedings against Mr. Murdaugh.

C. Caught in their lies, SLED and Mr. Bevel double down.

‘September16,2022: SLED accidentally produces Mr. Bevels initial report o the defense,

‘mislabeling it as interview notes from a November 9, 2021, interview with Kenny Hughes.

September20,2022: Defense paralegal Holli Miller discovers Mr. Bevel’s mislabeled

initial report and notes ts differences from the final report.
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November3, 2022: After repeated requests, the State produces the entire DNA Iab file in

this case. Although the purpose of requesting these files was to review DNA evidence, they do

also contain the HemaTrace results, buried within hundreds of pagesofother documents. These

results are not immediately discovered by defense counsel.

November 4, 2022: Defense counsel request microscope-magnified photographs of the

‘purported blood stains on Mr. Murdaugh's T-shirt. The purposeofthis requesti to obtain expert

‘opinion on whether the purported blood stains were transfer stains rather than spatter. Hair and

insects can make mist-sized transfer stains that look “morphologically very similar to impact”

spatter. Eg, David Rivers & Theresa Geiman, Insect Artifacts Are More than Just Altered

‘Bloodstains,§ Insects, no. 2, June 2017, at 37. However, microscopic examination can sometimes

distinguish between impact spatter and transfer from tiny objects like hairs and insect feet. At this

time, the defense did not realize thestainswere not human blood.

November 9, 2022: Lead prosecutor Creighton Waters and others in the prosecution team

have a conference call with Mr. Bevel, in which the defense request for microscopic examination

ofthe shirt is discussed. The call notes the shirt was “very dark, close to black” because of LCV.

oxidation and therefore the requested examination would be impossible. On the call, Mr. Bevel

observes that magnifying digital photographs could not substitute for microscopic examination

because that would just be “blowing up pixels” and “I don’t see that doing anything that would

help” identify blood spatter. Of course, later in November he claims to have done exactly that

when changing his opinion from “no blood spatter” to “lots of blood spatter” purportedly in

response to Photoshop enhancementsofdigital photographs. Mr. Bevel also assures Mr. Waters

that defense counsels purpose in requesting an examination of the T-shirt is merely “giving us

‘busyworkto keep us busy and guessing.”
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November 11, 2022: Defense counsel again asks Mr. Waters for an examination of the

shirt. Also, defense counsel first leas about the negative HemaTrace tests. In response to a

defense motion to compel polygraph records related to Curtis Smith, a drug dealer who failed a

polygraph examination when askedifhe shot Maggie and Paul, SLED compared DNA taken from

Curtis Smith against DNA from various items of evidence including cuttings from Mr.

Murdaugh’s T-shirt. The resultsofthe comparison with the cuttings from the T-shirt stated, “No

human blood identified.” At this time, defense counsel did not know why these statements

‘appeared on the November 2, 2022, report regarding Curtis Smith but not the earlier July 25, 2021,

report. Now, however, it is known that these statements reflect the HemaTrace test results, and

they did not appear on the July 25, 2021, report because the tests were performed on August 10,

2021.

November17,2022: Mr. Waters finally informs defense counsel that the shirt has “tumed

black” and is not examinable. Defense counsel asks toviewthe shirt.

November21,2022: Defense counsel view the shirt at the SLED forensic laboratory.

November22,2022: Defense counsel discovers the HemaTrace test results when reviewing

the DNA laboratory notes while preparinga motion to exclude.

November23,2022: Mr. Murdaugh files a motion toexcludeat about noon. The basis for

the motion is the destructionofthe T-shirt. The motion includes a request for an order compelling

production of all communications between Mr. Bevel and the State. At 3:30 pam., the State

produces a setofcommunications with Mr. Bevel. These emails reveal to the defense that when

Bevel could not usefully examine the shirt, he used Photoshop to edit the colorofthe stains on the

shirt and that was his asserted basis for changing his opinion.
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Nov 8, 2022: Mr. Murdaugh files a motiontocompel Mr. Bevel’srecordsand all

communications with Mr. Bevel. The motion is styled “Motion to compel the State to produce

evidence regarding alteration of photographs of evidence it destroyed.” It specifically seeks all

communications, including all electronicofphysical documents exchanged, “regardlessof mode

of transmission,” and all Photoshop Document files related to photographsofthe T-shirt. The

motion specifically refers to files delivered on physical media (what Mr. Bevel claims are the

“RAW” format files).

v 9, 2022: Defense counsel emails a letter to Mr. Bevel, asking to speak with

him about his report and enclosing the motions to exclude and compel that had been filed,

including exhibits. The last two sentences of the letter read: “One question is whether you were

informed that Mr. Murdaugh's T-shirt tested negative for human blood. Copies of the

prosecution's serology reports are included as exhibits to the enclosed motions.” The letter was

sentat 11:29 am. EST. At4:37 p.m. EST, Mr. Bevel began writinga229-word Word document,

which he completed at 5:09 p.m. EST. The document is unsigned and not addressed to anyone. It

states in full:

On Wednesday 11-27-2022 in the aftemoona reporter called asking about the
defense, filling a motion that I changed my BPA opinion due to pressure from the
state. He was told that until adjudication is complete, I can’t tak to anyone about
thecaseto include reporters.

As to the state pressuring me, this never occurred.

In my original report after looking at the processing photos and the tshirt, which
was almost completely a dark color, I stated there are no bloodstains that can be
identified as coming from a firearm. My opinion would be the same today if the
RAW photo files had not been sent to me.

RAW isanacronym for “raw image file format” which preserves all the data from
the camera sensors. In non-raw format such as JPEG or TIFF less data is present
due to digital processing such as compressionofthe data.
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‘The original photos that were sent to me were in non-raw format and the photos did
notshow enoughdatatoseestaining that would be consistent with mist sized blood
spatter.

UpongettingaCDofthe RAW files with muuch more recorded data, Photoshop was
used to enhance blue and darkspotson the white background of the t-shirt. This
produced over 100 stains with distribution and sized that are consistent with mist
sized spatter from a gunshot.

‘The reporter Mr. Bevel mentions is Avery Wilkswiththe Post& Courier.

December 1, 2022: Mr. Bevel finally receives the HemaTrace reportsfromSLED that show

the shirt tested negative for human blood. Agent Owen writes a timeline in which he claims he

first saw the HemaTrace test results on November 30, 2022, a full week after defense counsel

attached them to a publicly filed motion (timeline started at 7:45 p.m. and completed at 1 p.m. the

following day).

December 8, 2022: Mr. Waters has Deputy Kinsey view the destroyed T-shirt at the SLED

forensics laboratory. Mr. Waters also speaks with SLED DNA analyst Zapata, who performed the

HemalTrace tests at issue, about the HemaTrace results.

Mr. Bevel, presumablyatMr. Waters’ direction, responds to the November 29th letter from

defense counsel, explaining that his response was delayed by deaths in his family and that his

“policy is always to honor a request to speak to an attorney about an active case” and offers to

makehimselfavailablefora callwith prosecutors and defense counsel. Thepartis agree to acall

on December 16th. Mr. Bevel later asks to reschedule that call to December 21st.

December 9, 2022 (Friday): The Court hears the motion to compel materials regarding Mr.

Bevel. The Court orally grants the motionfrom the bench.

December 12, 2022 (Monday): Mr. Bevel obtains an LCV kit for his upcoming “science

fair” experiment, in which he will conduct a weekend experiment in his garage or other room in

his house to prove that HemaTrace always returnsa false negative when used on substances

18



previously treated with LCV, despite multiple peer-reviewed articles in academic journals stating

the opposite. Meanwhile, Mr. Watershas Deputy Kinsey visit the Moselle property.

December 13, 2022: SLED analyst Zapata writes a memorandur to ile, presumably at the

request of Mr. Waters, positing possible explanations for anegative HemaTrace test. Ms. Zapata

attaches to her memorandum two academic articles regarding HemaTrace and LCV: Carl A,

Streeting et al., A comparison of ABAcard® HemaTrace® and RSIDTM-Blood tests on dried,

diluted bloodstains treated with leucocrystal violet or luminol, Australian Joumal of Forensic.

Sciences 108 (June 2020) (finding HemaTrace tests “performed well” for bloodstains enhanced

with LCV, retuming positive results for blood treated with LCV 94% of the time); Connie J.

Swander & Jennifer G. Stites, Evaluation for the ABAcard HemaTrace for the Forensic

Identification ofHuman Blood, Mich. State Police Forensic Lab. (1998) (finding HemaTrace

detects blood diluted with LCV) (papersubmittedtotheMichigan AssociationofForensic Science

Annual Meeting).

December14,2022 (at 10:12 pm): Mr. Waters submits a redline of Mr. Murdaugh’s

proposed order on the motion to compel. A second redline is sent at 9:31 a.m. the next morning.

Mr. Waters’ proposed order oddly objects that Mr. Bevel was not retained by “the State,” claiming

he instead was retained by “SLED,” even though SLED obviously is a state agency, and implies

Mr. Bevel’s files therefore are not within the control of “the State.” The implicit argument s that

Mr. Waters has litle to no control over SLED, Mr. Bevel, and their blood spatter imbroglio.

December 15, 2022: Mr. Bevel obtains abagofexpired human blood from ablood bank.

December 16, 2022 (Friday): Mr. Bevel obtains HemaTrace test kits. Meanwhile, Mr.

Waters has Deputy Kinsey meet with the pathologist who performed Maggie and Paul’s autopsies.
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December17,2022(Saturday): Mr. Bevel performs his at-home “science fair” experiment

(the experiment may have begun on the previous day). Mr. Bevel sprays five cuttings from a white

“T-shirt with the expired human blood he obtained. He tests one cutting with HemaTrace, which

tests positive. He then sprays the remaining four cuttings with LCV, allows them to dry, then tests

themwithHemaTrace. They test negative. He concludes LCV always causes HemaTrace to retum

a false negative.

Mr. Bevel has produced no material regarding this experiment beyond abrief report and a

short PowerPoint presentation containing a few low-resolution images. Beyond that, Mr. Bevel

has not produced any photographs, lab notes, or even anything indicating where this experiment

occurred. Because he has no office or laboratory, and because he previously requested evidence

to be shipped to his home address, it s likely Mr. Bevel performed this weekend experiment in his

home as well. He does not even identify what portionsofthe shirt were tested with HemaTrace.

Instead, he illustrates a stain he did not test, and shows a void where some cloth he did test was

removed, without ever showing whether any bloodstain was present on the tested portion of the

cloth at al. See figure 4, infra (slide from Mr. Bevel’s PowerPoint showing a “recommended”

stain for testingbutthen showing some other unseen portionofthe shirt was actully tested).
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Mr. Bevel posits the false negatives he claims he observed may have been caused by a

combinationofdiluting and the smallmistingstains indicative of “high velocity impact spatter,”

which according to him are “much smaller than the recommended 3mm squared” stains

recommended as a minimum size for HemaTrace testing. He provides no supporting citation or

documentation for is assertion that the “[rJecommended sizeofblood to test is 3mm squared,”

‘which appears tobe nothingmorethan his own scientifically illiterate readingofthe instructional

insert that came with the HemaTrace test strips. The HemaTrace instructions state a sample cut

fromclothorfabricshouldbebetween 3mm?and Smm?.Theydo notsaythestainon the cloth

shouldbeatleast3mm? (which wouldbealarge stain). Thesamplecutting is soakedin 2mL of

HemaTrace buffer, then one-tenthof thatis droppedintothewellonthe test card. Two lines on

the test strip means human blood is detected, which occurs if hemoglobin is present above 0.05

pg/mL. Thatmeansthe200 pLdroppedonthecardonlyneedstocontain 10nanogramsof

hemoglobintoobtainapositiveresult. AsnotedintheacademicarticlesprovidedbySLED’sown
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analyst, the HemaTrace test can detect nearly microscopic amountsofblood. Indeed, HemaTrace

is more sensitive than LCV-—HemaTrace will detect blood diluted to the point that it does not have

avisible reaction with LCV. Swander& Stites, supra, at 4.

December18,2022 (Sunday): Mr. Bevel writes a supplemental report regarding his at-

home “science fair” experiment. Based on his purported discovery in his garage or kitchen or

‘wherever that HemaTrace always retumsa false negative when tested on surfaces previously

treated with LCV, he concludes the negative HemaTrace results for Mr. Murdaugh's T-shirt are

not relevant to whether blood spatter is present on his shirt because it was treated with LCV before

it was tested with HemaTrace. His opinion regarding blood spatter therefore is unchanged by the

negative HemaTrace tests. No reference is madetoany published, peer-reviewed, academic work

onthe subject, because that work would contradict the resultsofhis “science fair” experiment.

December 19, 2022: The Court issues a written order memorializing the granting of the

‘motion to compel. The Court orders “the State to produce to the defense forthwith:

(1) Copies of all written or recorded communications to and from Mr. Bevel,
regardless of modeoftransmission.

(2) Copies of all electronic or physical documents sent to and received from Mr.
Bevel, regardlessofmodeoftransmission.

(3) All Photoshop Document files of Mr. Bevel, orofany member, employee, or
agent of Bevel, Garner & Associates, LLC, related to photographsofthe white T-
shirt Defendant was wearing the night his wife andsonweremurdered.

(4) A copy of the case file of Bevel as the term is defined in the Manual of the
United States Department of Justice, 9-5.003 Criminal Discovery Involving
Forensic Evidence and Experts.

(Order, Dec. 19, 2022 (footnote omitted). “Forthwith” means “immediately; at once; without

delay.” Forthwith, Dictionary.com. A “case file,” under the definition in the U.S. Department of

Justice's manual incorporated by reference in the Courts order, is described as follows:
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‘This information, which may be kept in an actual file or may be compiled by the
forensic expert, normally wil describe the factsordata considered by the forensic
expen, include the underlying documentation of the examination or analysis
performed, and contain the material necessary for another examiner to understand
the expert’ report. The exact material containedin acase file varies depending on
the type of forensic analysis performed. It may include such items as a chain-of-
custody log; photographs of physical evidence; analysts’ worksheets or bench
notes; a scope of work; an examination plan; and data, charts and graphs that

illustratethe resultsofthe tests conducted.

Defense counsel asks Mr. Waters and Mr. Bevel to provide these materials by Friday,

December 23rd.

December21,2022:Three-and-a-half hours before the scheduled call with Mr. Bevel, the

State produces Mr. Bevel’s supplemental report on his “science fair” experiment. Mr. Waters

called about one hour before the production to alert defense counsel. On the call, Mr. Waters

Sounds embarrassed. He seemed unaware Mr. Bevel was performing “science fair” experiments

at his home in Oklahoma to disprove the results of tests conducted in SLED's brand-new,

multimillion dollar forensic laboratory facilities."

Defense counsel postpones the call with Mr. Bevel. It has not been rescheduled.

‘December27,2022: Defense counsel again asks Mr. Waters and Mr. Bevel to provide

materials the Court ordered them to produce immediately and without delay, stating that motion

to exclude as a sanction will be filedifthematerialsare not produced by the close of business on

December 28th.

December 28, 2022: Mr. Waters responds: “We have been actively working on this issue

around the holidays. We were hoping to get it uploaded before Christmas by dropbox but SLED

got a text from Mr. Bevel Friday the 23rd that it was going to take 13 hours so he bought an

1 Cf. Seanna Adcox, New SLED lab biggest chunkof $100M requested by law enforcement
agenciesfor construction, Post & Courier (Dec. 30, 2017).
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external hard drive to send. 1 am advised by SLED thatthehard drive was in fact fedexed by Mr.

Bevel and is due to be out for delivery to SLED HQ today by 4:30pm.”

December 29, 2022: The defense receives a copy of the hard drive from Mr. Bevel. It

contains 46 GB of materials. There are no “RAW” image files. There are no Photoshop fils.

‘There are no photographs whatsoever except for those contained in PowerPoint presentations and

afew very low-resolution JPEG images labeled “Slide1”, “Slide2”, etc. Mr. Bevel produced no

notes or analysis notes related to spatter beyond drafts of his reports and various PowerPoint

presentations made for SLED. He did not produce relevant correspondence in his possession. For

example, he produced no correspondence regarding use of the Norman, Oklahoma, police

laboratory for his meeting in March with Agent Owen and Lt. Wallace. Neither Mr. Bevel nor

SLED produced any text messages—even though Mr. Waters’ email to defense counsel said Mr.

Bevel texted to communicate that he was having issues uploading files to SLED.

‘December30,2022:TheAttomey Generals office produces ts own communications with

Mr. Bevel.

January9,2023: Mr. Waters receives a report by Deputy Kinsey that mirrors—and

expressly relies on—Mr. Bevel's report. Exhibit A. Mr. Waters apparently believes the prospects

for getting Mr. Bevel’s opinions admitted into evidence are dubious and he thinks he can avoid

Mr. Bevels issues merely by having someone else read Mr. Bevel’s report and repeat it in as

his own.

Deputy Kinsey's report is organized around the same 12 “investigative questions” Mr.

Bevel used in his report and essentially paraphrases Mr. Bevel’s opinions on those questions with

one notable exception. In response to “IQ-4:Aretheblood stains on Alex's white t-shirt consistent

with back spatter from a gunshot,” Deputy Kinsey repeats Mr. Bevel’s phrase about “100 plus”
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stains, then opines, “the smaller stainsthatarepresent after treatment with LCV appear to be high

velocity impact stains... only caused by a gunshot or high speed machinery.” But then he pivots

180-degrees to conclude: “Afterconsiderationofthe original opinion, analysis reports, and follow-

‘up experimentation, this expert cannot render an opinion on 1Q-4 above.”

Deputy Kinsey is unwilling render on whether “the blood stains on Alex's white t-shirt”

are spatter from a gunshot because he knows the T-shirt tested negative for human blood.

January 13,2023 (Friday before holiday one week before trial): The State produces Deputy

Kinsey's report to the defense.

January 18, 2023: This motion is filed.

IL Legal Standard

To the undersigneds knowledge, no South Carolina prosecutor has ever before attempted

to introduce inculpatory expert testimony from an out-of-state expert who—in open defiance ofa

court order—refused to produce the materials he relied upon in forming his opinion. Therefore,

there is no controlling legal standard directly on point. The leading case on the authority ofa trial

court to exclud testimonyofan expert generally is Jumper v. Hawkins, 348 S.C. 142, 558 S.E.2d

911 (Ct. App. 2001). “The Jumper court held a tral judge is required to consider and evaluate the

following factors before imposing the sanctionof exclusionof a witness: (1) the type of witness

involved; (2) the contentofthe evidence emanating from the proffered witness; (3) the nature of

the failure or neglect or refusal tofurnishthe witness’ name; (4) the degreeof surprise to the other

party, including the prior knowledge of the name of the witness; and (5) the prejudice to the

opposing party.” Barnette v. Adams Bros. Logging, 355 S.C. 588, 592, 586 S.E.2d 572, 574-75

(2003) (citing Jumper, 348 S.C. at 152, 558 S.E.2d at916).

The Jumper court however was concemed with the exclusionofan expert who was not

timely identified in the proper manner, not an identified expert who refuses to comply with the
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court's orders compelling discovery. In civil cases, whena partyfails to comply with a discovery

order, the trial court has the discretion to impose any sanction itdeemsjust, including an order

dismissing the action. Rule 37(b)(2), SCRCP; Barnette, 355 S.C. at 593, 586 S.E.2d at 575. These

sanctions can include (but are not limited to):

(A) An order that the matters regarding which the order was made or any other
designated facts shall be taken to be established for the purposesofthe action
in accordance with the claimofthe party obtainingtheorder;

(B) An order refusing to allow the disobedient party to support or oppose
designated claims or defenses, or prohibiting him from introducing designated
matters in evidence;

(C) An order striking out pleadings or parts thereof, or stayingfurtherproceedings
until the order is obeyed, or dismissing the action or proceeding or any part
thereof, or rendering a judgment by defaultagainstthe disobedient party;

In liew of anyofthe foregoing orders or in addition thereto, the court shall require
the party failing to obey the order or the attorney advising him or both to pay the
reasonable expenses, including attorney's fees, caused by the failure, unless the
court finds that the failure was substantially justified or that other circumstances
‘make an awardofexpenses unjust.

Rule 37(b)(2), SCRCP.

‘The sanction Mr. Murdaugh seeks here—an order prohibiting the disobedient party from

introducing designated matters into evidence—is specifically enumerated by the civil rule and in

fact is the least harsh possible sanction enumerated. The federal criminal rule is similar: “When a

party in a criminal case fails to comply with a discovery order, the district court ‘may order such

party to permit the discovery or inspection, grant a continuance or prohibit the party from

introducing evidence not disclosed, or it may enter such other order as it deems just under the

circumstances.” United States v. Fernandez, 780 F.2d 1573, 1576 (11th Cir. 1986) (quoting Fed.

R. Crim. P. 16(d)(2)) (reversing district court denial of a motion to exclude testimony as a sanction

for failure to comply with a discovery order, holding the violation “requires that the district court

26



. . “fashionf] the least severe, yet effective, sanction”). Rule 5ofthe South Carolina Rules of

Criminal Procedure has similar language, though it anticipates a failureto disclose in response to

a discovery request from a party, not defiance ofacourt order

IV. Discussion

A. Mr. Bevel and the State have refused to comply with this Court's order.

Mr. Bevel and the State have not complied with the Courts order. Mr. Bevel and the State

were ordered to produce “(1) Copies of all written or recorded communications to and from Mr.

Bevel, regardless of mode of transmission.” The State and Mr. Bevel have produced email

correspondence, but they have not produced any text messages. On December 28th, Mr. Waters

told defense counsel “SLED gota text from Mr. Bevel Friday the 23rd that it was going to take 13

hours to upload certain files]sohe bought an external harddriveto send.” That text message has

not been disclosed and, more importantly, it obviously is not the one and only text message Mr.

Bevel eversent to or received from someone at SLED.

Mr. Bevel and the State were ordered to produce “(2) Copiesofall electronic or physical

documents sent to and received from Mr. Bevel, regardlessofmodeoftransmission.” Neither Mr.

Bevel nor the State have produced any “RAW” image format photographsofthe T-shirt. Instead,

Mr. Bevel produced a short memorandum stating thath received these files and that his Photoshop

‘manipulationofthem was the sole basis for changing his opinion from “there is no blood spatter”

to “there is a lot of blood spatter.” Email correspondence suggests these photographs may have

been delivered on a CD, which the motion to compel specifically refers to files delivered on

physical media, and why the Courts order specifies documents “regardless of mode of

transmission.” Yet Mr. Bevel and the State flatly refuse to produce these files. Examination of

them is critical to understanding the validityofhis new opinion.
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‘The most charitable explanation for the refusal to produce the critical files is that Mr. Bevel

wants to protect his new opinion from scrutiny. The more likely explanation is that Mr. Bevel is

simply lying about why he changed his opinion. Mr. Waters has represented to defense counsel

that there are no undisclosed “RAW” photographs, and that the only photographs Mr. Bevel was

provided are the JPEG images the State has produced to the defense. Mr. Waters’ word is far more

credible than Mr. Bevel’s, and his statement is corroborated by the facts that (1) the portion ofMr.

Bevel’s final report listing the evidence documents lists many photographs but it does not list any

‘photograph not also listed as evidence considered in his initial report, (2) Mr. Bevel’s final report

does not list any “RAW” image files, (3) the number of photographs listed on Mr. Bevel's final

report correspond with the number of photographs the State has produced—most of which were

taken on July 21, 2021, with a Nikon D780 camera and produced as 6048x4024, 300dpi JPEG

images with 24-bit color depth. On the other hand, Agent Owen has produced a timeline stating

thathe and Lt. Wallacediddeliver “RAW” photographs to Mr. Bevel when they went to Oklahoma,

and there are contemporaneous emails referencing photographs delivered on a CD.

Mr. Bevel and the State were ordered to produce “(3) All Photoshop Document filesofMr.

Bevel, or of any member, employee, or agent of Bevel, Gamer & Associates, LLC, related to

photographs of the white T- shirt Defendant was wearing the night his wife and son were

murdered.” He has produced no such files, only a memorandum confirming he in fact does have

them. Photoshop files contain a great deal of metadata, including an audit trial of alterations

regarding the underlying image. See Adobe, Adobe Photoshop File Formats Specification,

hitps://www.adobe.com/devnet-apps/photoshop/fileformatashtml/#50577409_pgfld-1030196

(Nov. 2019).Ifthere are no RAW image files at all, producing these files would reveal that, which

may be why Mr. Bevel refused to produce them despite being specifically ordered to do so.
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Mr. Bevel and the State were ordered to produce “(4) A copy of the case file of Bevel as

the term is defined in the Manual of the United States Department of Justice, 9-5.003 Criminal

Discovery Involving Forensic Evidence and Experts.” The order defines a “case file” as “the

underlying documentation of the examination or analysis performed, and contain the material

necessary for another examiner to understand the experts report” including “a chain-of-custody

log; photographsofphysical evidence; analysts’ worksheets or bench notes; a scopeofwork; an

examination plan; and data, charts and graphs that illustrate the resultsofthe tests conducted.”

(See Orderat 2 (incorporating the definitionof“case file” found in the U.S. Departmentof Justice’s

Justice Manual at 9-5.003). Mr. Bevel has produced nothing meeting this definition other than

draft reports and accompanying PowerPoint presentations. There are no native image files of any

‘photographs taken by Mr. Bevel, just images (apparently clippings from screenshots)that he pasted

into his PowerPoint presentations. Ofcourse, he took at least one photo during his “science fair”

experiment regarding LCV that did not make it into the PowerPoint. Regardless, Mr. Murdaugh

needs the actual photograph files, not lower-resolution screenshots lacking metadata embedded in

presentations for SLED.

Mr. Bevel and the State were ordered to produce these materials “forthwith™—ic.,

“immediately; at once; without delay.” The motion to compel was granted orally on December

9th. The written order was entered December 19th after the Court rejected argument from Mr.

‘Waters that he has no control over SLED. It is now January 18th, three business days before tral.

‘The materials have not been produced.

B. Exclusion of testimony from Mr. Bevel is warranted.

Exclusion of testimony from Mr. Bevel is warranted for two independent reasons. First,

each applicable factor under the Jumper standard weighs in favor of exclusion. That standard

applies in civil cases, and it anticipates a failure to meet disclosure obligations, not wilful defiance
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of a court order, but there is no standard specific to the present circumstances. But there is no

reason to suppose court orders should be less stringently enforced in a criminal trial than ina civil

trial. Second, exclusionof Mr. Bevel is necessary to preserve the authority of the Court and the

dignity of the trial proceedings. The Court cannot allow a party’s retained witness to defy its

orders, then to come to the courthouse and give the testimony he is paid to provide asifthe Court's

orders never happened.

1. Under the Jumperstandard, testimony from Mr. Bevel must be excluded.

Under Jumper, a court considering excluding testimony from an expert witness as a

sanction should consider “1) the type of witness involved; (2) the content of the evidence

emanating from the proffered witness; (3) the natureofthe failure or neglect or refusal to fumish

the witness” name; (4) the degree of surprise to the other party, including the prior knowledge of

the nameofthe witness; and (5) the prejudice to the opposing party.” Barnette, 355 S.C. at 592,

586 S.E.2d at 574-75 (citing Jumper, 348 S.C. at 152, 558 S.E.2d at 916). The degreeofsurprise

factor is inapplicable here, where the issue is not an untimely disclosure but rather the failure to

comply with ordered disclosure at all. Each of the other factors weighs entirely in favor

ofexclusion.

a The ypeofwitness involved weighs infavorofexclusion

“The fist Jumper factor asks whether the witness to be excluded is a fact witness or expert

witness. Busillo v. CityofNorth Charleston, 404 S.C. 604, 613 n.5, 745 S.E2d 142, 147 n.5 (Ct.

App. 2013) (Williams, J., dissenting) (“The first ofthe five Jumper factors is ‘the typeofwitness

involved” and concerns whether the undisclosed witness is a fact witness or an expert witness.")

The Court would be rightly reticent to exclude testimony froma witness with unique first-hand

knowledge of facts material to these murders as a sanction for misconduct in litigation. But Mr.

Bevel is just a paid expert in Oklahoma with no first-hand knowledge of any material fact in this
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case, who has never even been to the crime scene. This factor therefore weighs in favor

ofexclusion.

b. The contentofthe evidence from the proffered witness weighs infavorofexclusion.

The second Jumper factor is “the content of the evidence emanating from the proffered

witness.” 348 S.C. at 152, 558 S.E.2d at 916. The probative value of the evidence Mr. Bevel

‘would offer—the opinions in his final report and supplement to that report detailing his “science

fair” experiment—is, to put it mildly, dubious. Iti very difficult to see how Mr. Bevel’s “expert”

opinions could possibly assist the jury. The basic facts are undisputed: There was no apparent

blood spatter on Mr. Murdaugh’s white T-shirt, which is why SLED sprayed it with LCV (though

why SLED thought that would make blood more visible on a white T-shirt is unknown). When it

was sprayed with LCV, certain stain pattems emerged in the time window before the entire shirt

turned violet. Cuttings from those stain patterns were taken and tested for DNAand for presence

of human blood using a confirmatory HemaTrace test more sensitive than LCV, which is

documented in peer-reviewed academic journals to work on surfaces treated with LCV. The

cuttings uniformly tested negative for human blood.

To this Mr. Bevel could only add that he first opined there was no bloodspatteron the T-

shirt, but then reversedhimselfand discovered over 100 blood spatter stains on it that must be

from ahigh-velocity impact. He sayshe changed his opinion based on his Photoshop manipulation

of high-resolution “RAW” format photographs that he received after he provided initial report—

but that he did not list as material considered on his final report, that he refuses to produce even

‘when ordered to do 50, and which the prosecutor says do not exist at ll. Additionally, when he

produced his final report, he did not know the T-shirt tested negative for human blood. He says

that knowledge does not change his opinion because after he leaned that—and after he was

orderedtoproducehiscase file—he performeda weekend sciencefair experiment in aroom in his

31



home in which he proved HemalTrace tests always return a false negative when used on surfaces

treated with LCV, disproving the results of SLED's own tests performed in a multimillion-dollar

laboratory bya professional analyst, Sarah Zapata, having areal science degree from a respected

university, as well as disproving multiple peer-reviewed, published academic articles.

For support, Mr. Bevel provides no documentation of his “science fair experiment” other

than a PowerPoint presentation that does not even identify the bloodstains he purportedly tested

with HemaTrace. And his report's conclusions rest in part on his elementary misunderstanding of

the instructional pamphlet that came with the HemaTrace test kit. This calls to mind a review of

Mr. Bevel’s book, Bloodstain Pattern Analysis (3d ed 2008), published in the JournalofForensic

Science.? The book was rather poorly received in academic circles. One reviewer wrote:

Excluding the chapters written by the guest authors, the text is unequivocally
nonscientific in substance and style with a multitudeofgrammatical, typographical,
and scientific errors. Persistent poor syntax and use of colloquialisms lie in stark
contrast to the linguistic competence and professional manner of the pathologist.
The chapter entitled “Understanding and Applying Characteristic Patterns of
Blood” is a patent example of inappropriate parlance. In most cases, the language:
errors are simply nuisances that may produce confusion for some readers. Most
perturbing are the scientific errors, which could mislead those lacking an education
in science.

‘The data and conclusionsofthe unpublished research are questionable at best and
the possibility that nonscientific readers may interpret the informationas factual is
cause for concern.

[T]he presenttextcan best be described as “Cargo Cult Science,” a phrase coined
by Richard Feynman in his commencement address to the Caltech class of 1974.
As used, Feynman was describing a particular manifestationofpseudoscience, one
in which someone believes he or she has correctly hamessed all of the trappings

2 The Journal of Forensic Science is the peer-reviewed, official publication of the American
Academy of Forensic Sciences.
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‘and ritualsofscience but is missing a critical component: scientific integrity. Alas,
‘much moreis missing from this text; scienceitselfis absent.

Ralph R. Ristenbatt Ill, Review of: Bloodstain Pattern Analysis with an Introduction to Crime

Scene Reconstruction, 3rd edition, 54 J. Forensic Sci. 234, 234 (2009)

Mr. Bevel’s opinions could only confuse the jury regarding underlying facts that are

undisputed. He would be extremely unlikely to survive a Council hearing. See State v. Phillips,

430$.C.319, 343, 844 S.E.24651,663 (2020) (holding that “if anobjection is made [to scientific

evidence],the trial court musthold aDaubert/Council hearing, the proponentofthe evidence must

present the factual and scientific basis necessary to satisfy the foundational elements of Rule 702,

and the trial court must conduct an on-the-record balancing of probative value against the

applicable Rule 403 dangers”). Mr. Waters knows this, which is why he retained Deputy Kinsey

as a substitute for Mr. Bevel. Fortunately, Mr. Bevel’s wilful defiance of the Courts order to

produce the materials intended for use in a Council hearing obviates the need to hold the hearing

before the Court excludes him.

“This factor therefore weighs in favorofexclusion.

The natureofMr. Bevel's refusal to comply with the Court's order weighs in favor of
exclusion.

“The third factor is “the nature of the failure or neglect o refusal” giving rise to motion to

exclude. 348 S.C. at 152, 558 S.E.2d at 916. Here, the failure is a calculated effort to obtain

advantage in litigation through willful and direct disobedienceofthe Courts orders. Mr. Bevel

says he has RAW image filesandPhotoshop files, andthat theywerethe basis for his new opinion,

3 The author, Ralph Ristenbatt, is an assistant teaching professor of forensic science in the
Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology at The Pennsylvania State University. The
SLED analyst who performed the HemaTrace tests in this case, Sarah Zapata, received her
BachelorofScience degree in 2014 from Penn State. Prof.Ristenbattwas an instructor when Ms.
Zapata was a forensic science student there, teaching courses such as “Scientific Approach to
Crime Scene Investigation.” It is unclear whether he taught any courses Ms. Zapata attended.
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but he, and the State, refuse to provide them even after being ordered to do so. And as described

above, Mr. Bevel has refused to produce muchofanything fitting the definitionofa “case file.”

‘The purpose behind this defiance is to insulate Mr. Bevel’s opinion from scrutiny, either in a

Council hearing or at ial. Significantly, it appears the ordered disclosure would show that Mr.

Bevel fabricated his proffered justification for changing his opinion from exculpatory to

inculpatory at the request of SLED, and that his at-home “science fair” experiment does not mean

the fact that the shirt tested negative for human blood is irrelevant to a blood stain analysis. No

other failure or refusal could weigh more heavily in favorofexclusion. ff Curlee v. Howle, 277

5.C. 377,382, 287 S.E.24 915, 918 (1982) (“Contempt results from the willful disobedience ofan

orderofthe court... ”).

d. Allowing Mr. Bevel o testify at trial would be prejudicial to Mr. Murdaugh.

‘The final applicable factor is prejudice to Mr. Murdaugh. 348 S.C. at 152, 558 SE.2d at

916. The Court has already ruled on this factor. Mr. Murdaugh needs the requested materials to

prepare his defense, which is why the Court granted the motion to compel. (Orderat1 (“The Court

finds this information should be disclosed pursuant to Rule 5, South Carolina Rules of Criminal

Procedure.”).) The State could have argued the defense does not need these materials in opposition

10 the motion to compel. It did not. It cannot nowargue the defense does not need the requested

‘materials as a justification for refusing to comply with the Court’s order.

‘The State and Mr. Bevel should not be permitted to defy a Court orderto sabotage a Council

hearing they know Mr. Bevel cannot survive. And in the unlikely event that Mr. Bevel could

qualify as an expert witness, Mr. Murdaugh would need the requested materials to cross-examine

him effectively at trial. If there are RAW image files, producing these files is necessary to

understand exactly how Mr. Bevel manipulated the original images andwhetherhis manipulation

in fact supports his new opinion. Photoshop files are necessary for the same reason, as are
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documents regarding his “science fair” experiment, all communications with Mr. Bevel including.

text messages (which defense counsel suspect may be more candid than emails to or from official

‘email accounts), and everything else the Court ordered Mr. Bevel to produce.

‘This factor therefore supports exclusion.

2. Exclusion ofMr.Bevelisnecessary to preserve the authorityof the Courtand the dignity
of the trialproceedings.

“Contemptuous behavior is conduct that tends to: bring the authority and administration of

the law into disrespect; or, interfere with or prejudice parties or their witnesses during litigation.”

State v. Kennerly, 331 S.C. 442, 450, 503 S.E.2d 214, 218 (Ct. App. 1998), aff'd, 337 S.C. 617,

524 S.E.2d837 (1999). “The powerofcontempt exists to maintain the orderanddecorumofcourt

proceedings, to enforce the court'swritsandorders, and to punish actstendingtoobstruct the due

administration of justice.” fd SLED and Mr. Bevel's open defiance of the Court's order

compelling production certainly is contemptuous. See Rule 37(6)2)(D) (providing that in a civil

case, the court may treat “as acontempt ofcourt the failureto obey any orders” regarding discovery

“except an order to submit to a physical or mental examination). Their refusal to comply with

the Courts order disrespects the authority of the Cour, interferes with and prejudices Mr.

Murdaugh during this litigation, and obstructs the due administration ofjustice in this case.

Mr. Murdaugh does not ask the Court for a Rule to Show Cause regarding Mr. Bevel

(because he is in Oklahoma), but he urges the Court not to tolerate his contemptuous behavior. A

courtorderthat is not enforced invites disrespectofall other court orders. Litigation largely is a

process in which a party seeks to advance its cause by asking the tribunal to order some relief,

otherparties agreeoroppose the request,thetribunalhearsthe parties’argumentsand then decides

whether to grant the requested relief, and the parties abide the decision or appeal to a superior

tribunal. Ifthe parties are free to advance their cause by ignoring decisions they do not like, the

35



process of litigation cannot function. Thus, it is essential that courts enforce their orders: “Ifa

party can make himselfa judge of the validity of orders which have been issued, and by his own

act of disobedience set them aside, then are the courts impotent ....> Gompers v. Bucks Stove &

Range Co., 221 U.S. 418,450 (1911). “As a result, ‘there could be no more important duty than

10 render such a decree as would serve to vindicate the jurisdiction and authority of courts to

enforce orders and to punish actsof disobedience.” Young v. USS. ex rel. Vuitton etFilsS.A., 481

U.S. 787,796 (1987) (quoting Gompers, 221 U.S. at 450).

Mr. Murdaugh here requests the least severe sanction sufficient to vindicate the Court's

authority and to enforce its order compelling production of materials relevant to Mr. Bevel’s

opinions: exclusion of his opinions at trial.

C. Exclusionof blood spatter testimony derived from Mr. Bevel is also warranted.

Mr. Waters does not believe Mr. Bevel will be permitted to testify on blood spatter, which

is why he is attempting to sneak Mr. Bevel’s report in through Deputy Kinseyas a back door. See

Exhibit A. The Court should not allow this for three reasons.

First, it would in no way vindicate the authorityofthe Court 10 exclude Mr. Bevel from

testifying totheopinions in his report just to allow someone else read Mr. Bevel's report and say,

“that’s my opinion too.” Deputy Kinsey states that his opinion relies on part on Mr. Bevelsreport.

Mr. Bevel says his report relies on materials the Court ordered him to produce. Mr. Bevel and the

State have refused to comply with that order. By simple transitive logic,‘ Deputy Kinsey's report

also relies on materials the State has refused to produce in defianceofthe Court's order. If Mr.

Bevels report, so should Deputy Kinsey's report.

“ “In logic, the term ‘transitive’ describesa given relation between terms such that if it exists
between ‘a’ and *b’ and between ‘b’and ‘c," then it also exists between ‘a’ and c.” Strawiher v
Grounds, No. 2:13-CV-1357-MCE-EFB, 2015 WL 3893570; at *8 (E.D. Cal. June 24, 2015)
(internal quotation marks omitted).
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Second, to the extent Deputy Kinsey might say his report is an independent review of

evidence independent of Mr. Bevel’s report, no required disclosures have been made. Mr.

Murdaugh made a Rule $ request on July 15, 2022, which requires the State to produce to Mr.

Murdaugh all “books, papers, documents, photographs, tangible objects, buildings or places, or

copies or portions thereof, which are within the possession, custody or control ofthe prosecution,

and whichare materialtothe preparationofhis defense.” Rule 5(a)(1)(C), SCRCrimP. The State

has produced no draft reports, communications, notes, or analyses by, to, or regarding Deputy

Kinsey. Deputy Kinsey's reportwas even produced as ascanofprintedhard copy so it would not

even have metadata. Not one email o or from Deputy Kinsey has been produced. Such documents

are encompassed by the Rule § request, just as the were for Mr. Bevel. Under Rule 5, the deadline

for such production was August 15th. Of course, manyofthese documents might not exist at all

because Deputy Kinsey's report is justa paraphrase of Mr. Bevel’s report.

Third, Deputy Kinsey's report diverges from Mr. Bevel’s report in one key aspect: Deputy

Kinsey is unwilling to say the T-shirt has any blood spatter. In response to “IQ-4: Are the

bloodstains on Alex's white t-shirt consistent with back spater from a gunshot?” Mr. Bevel opined

that there are “100+ stains” consistent with spatter on the front of the T-shirt. Deputy Kinsey

opines that “the smaller stains that are present afte treatment with LCV appeartobehigh velocity.

impact stains. .. only caused by a gunshot or high speed machinery” but then concludes: “After

considerationofthe original opinion, analysis reports, and follow-up experimentation, this expert

cannot render an opinion on 1Q-4 above.” Deputy Kinsey is unwilling to opine the LCV-stained

pattern on the T-shirt is consistent with blood spatter from the murders because he knows the T-

shirt tested negative for human blood.
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Deputy Kinsey's opinion on blood spatter—or, more accurately, his lackofan opinion—

thereforeappearsto have little value to the prosecution. Butifprosecution asks him to testify, it

likely will ask him to express a partial opinion about the patter of stains on the T-shirt to create

the impression that they are blood spatter caused by the gunshots that killed Maggie and Paul,

when in fact Deputy Kinsey holds no such opinion. Deputy Kinsey flatly states he “cannot render

an opinion” on whether there is blood spatter on the T-shirt. Mr. Waters therefore should not be

permitted to offer Deputy Kinsey's expert opinion testimony on spatter patterns on the T-shirt to

lead the jury to a conclusion that, in Deputy Kinsey expert opinion, cannot be drawn from the

evidence.® To do so would not assistthe jury; it would only confuse the jury. See Rule 403, SCRE

(providing the court may exclude evidenceif its probative value is substantially outweighed by a

danger of confusion of the issues or misleading the jury); Rule 702, SCRE (expert opinion

testimony admissible only if it would “assist the trieroffact to understand the evidence”). Where

there is no blood, there can be no blood spatter.

D.  Anaward of costs and fees is warranted.

‘The State’s misadventure with Mr. Bevel has imposed substantial costs on Mr. Murdaugh

while he prepares his defense to unfounded murder charges. In a civil case he would be entitled

to costs incurred including attorney's fees. Rule 37(a)(4), SCRCP. He should be no less entitled

to them in a criminal case. The State’s misconduct, outlined above in deta, has been egregious.

Now however is not the time to argue over attomey’s fees, so Mr. Murdaugh asks the Court to take

his request for costs under advisement until after the jury's verdict.

© This motion only concerns blood spatter opinion testimony. Mr. Murdaugh herein neither asks
the Court to exclude testimony from Deputy Kinsey on other aspectsofcrime scene investigation,
like the trajectory of gunshots or position of the victims, nor concedes the admissibility of
such testimony.
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V. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, Mr. Murdaugh requests the Court to prohibit the State from

offering testimony regarding blood spatter from Tom Bevel, any other principal, associate, or

employeeofBevel, Gamer & Associates, LLC, or any officerofthe State or other person whose

opinion derives from review of Mr. Bevel’s work product. Further, Mr. Murdaugh requests that

after trial, the Court award him costs and reasonable attomney’s fees incurred in motion practice

regarding Mr. Bevel.

Respectfully submitted,

Richard A. Harpootlian, SCBarNo. 2725
Phillip D. Barber, SCBarNo. 103421
RICHARD A. HARPOOTLIAN, PA.
1410 Laurel Street (29201)
Post Office Box 1090
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 252-4848
rah@harpootlianlaw.com
pdb@harpootlianlaw.com

James M. Griffin, SC Bar No. 9995
Margaret N. Fox, SC Bar No. 76228
GRIFFIN DAVIS LLC
4408 Forest Drive (29206)
Post Office Box 999
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 744-0800
jeriffin@griffindavislaw.com
‘mfox@griffindavislaw.com

Attorneys for Richard Alexander Murdaugh

January 18, 2023
Columbia, South Carolina.
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) INTHE COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
) FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

COUNTY OF COLLETON 3

“The Stateof South Carolin, Indictment Nos. 2022GS1500592 - 00595

Plaintiffs,

vs. CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Richard Alexander Murdaugh,

Defendant.

1, Holi Miller, paralegal to the attomey for the Defendant, Richard A. Harpootlian, P.A.,
with offices located at 1410 Laurel Street, Columbis, South Carolina 29201, hereby certify that

on January 18, 2023, I did serve by placing in the U.S. mail, first class postage affixed thereto

(with a courtesy copy sent electronically), the following documents to the below mentioned

person:

Document: Motion for Sanctions

Served: Creighton Waters, Esquire
Office ofThe Attomey General
Rembert C. Dennis Building
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia South Carolina 29211-1549
caters@scag gov ~

‘Folk Miller



State ofSouth Carolina v. Richard Alexander Murdaugh
Indictment Nos. 2022-GS-15-00592, -593, -594, and -595

Motion for Sanctions

(Affidavit and Preliminary Expert Opinions
of Dr. Kenneth Lee Kinsey, Jan 9, 2023)
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STATEOFSOUTHCAROLINA }
COUNTY OFCOLLETON) >

) IDJVIT ANDPRELIMINARY
‘StatovsRichardAlexander Murdaugh-(22-GS Il
15:00592trough 555) ) EXHERT OPINIONSOF

) DRKENNETH LEEKINSEY
)

rt
1.MynameisDr. KennethLeeKinsey. am over twenty foe(21)years ofage, of soundmi,
A andsubmit thisAffidavit

2. 1amcumenlycploydteChi Depuyof he ffgebg CountySherif Office,In
mycureatrol, | managealdel operation,conduct [jtemal affairs investigations,conduct
rinialinvestigationsaswella unlaw enforcemed at. |manage an annualbgtof
approximately$9.5 millon dollars nd serveasdirt supervisortoallSheriffs Office
employees. |

3. 1 camed adoctoratedegree (Ph.D.in Criminal Juffce inMayof2019 from Walden
University.Mydisrtaton research“UseofForosand Fercepionsof PublicAtiudeHeldby
Police Trainers"ules a quantitative analysisto dtdgine the psychological influencesof
officermotivationfrom thoseresponsiblefor pro dinginsructiontopoliceofficerssch as
‘AcademyInstructors, DepartmentalTraining Officers fdTaigOffers.

4. InDecemberof 2011,I camed amaster'sdegree (MS) fiom Troy UniversityinCriminal
Justis, |receivedmybachelorsdegroe(B.S.inMaybf 1991 fromClemson Universityin

Parks, Recreation,and Tourism Manageme withan efiphass inResource Management.

s. rerea sasiontccnssion,La

PutsAnlysi,ndFai imprest Examination. fddonaly, to follwing credotils
certifyme 8s an expert fo roview thiscase: |was pftviouslycertifiedasaCrimeScene
Tovesigaor (41632)bythneraioalAssocisio fo deatiBntion, Suess sompeion
ofall SLEDproficiencyiningtdsoul requimets, Lendersipand Sieg ling
Tniningfiom theUS.Atiomey'sOffice, Special Weddons andTacticsTrainingformYork
‘County's SheriffsOffice, NRALewEnforcement [Handgun Instructor,SouthCarlioa
CriminalJustioeAcademyFirearns & PatolRife osrphor, FoeusicExamination of Violent
GrimeScenesforRonSmith &Associatesend Trail inHomicide,CapitalCrimesand
Punishmentfrom theRegionalOrganizedCrime Inforation Center,andmyknowledgeand
m= oped during my extensivelaw
enforcementcareer.

Kise,KennethLos, Use of Fre andPrcepions of PblicAut He by PoliceTors”019).Plden
DissritionsandDoctoral Ses.6911.bpsscholworsako cions/6911
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6. Additonal avegainedvest experienc condocing me soosinvestigations roughost
my 30yearlowenforcementcarer, serving nthe ol ing capaci:criminal investigator
(1 include propertyadvioen rime)viletcies hvesigtor (OCSO), rimesoeand
Intent pris (OCSOaodSLED),andasisingalagents in the 1°crit onrues.1 Tin enece 9ot Fa aofota
curentlyaidand sss withmanyscenes in my juficton. Additional,|have ised
byreconstructionandlorevidenceprocesingin sever housand othrcase where didnot
respond a primaryo backupresoee nvetgel

5 TE sre 25 hna en be eofeg
andgatheringforensic evidence.

9. nai tomycurt gmc,dheome sons decidhove mv lio
hedthe following:Clase1AdainistiveMajor fo thOrangeburg County ShcfFs Office,icBun cou SsOe,Spla
SWAT.fortheSouthCarolina LawEnforcement Djvision ss wellasLieutenantofthe

Special OperationsDivisionfortheOrangeburgCount r PsOfice.

10. Inadditiontothe various lawenforcementtaining and fiction provide,losevess sn
Adjunct Profesorat ClaflinUniversity,where 1 pavebeenteaching Crime.Soene
InvestigationsandotherC1relatedclasses since2012.

1.Myinvolvement nthismate imado thediecton of Chief Atormey S. Creighton Waters,
South inAteGoesOffice. wis av to eview andsaver twelve (12
investigativequestionsssweerequestedinthe Bevi]report. Thefollowingincludesmy
professional assessment ofthecriteria:

DOCUMENTS/EVIDENCEREVIEWED= DidGreene BWC recording June 7, 2021
© SidCrmSceneInv Summary (46.5)
© interviewofAlex Mordaugh(4:35)
AutopsyReportforPaulMurdaugh(6pe)
PhotosfomAutopeyofPaulMurdaugh (34)

© Autopey Report for MargaretMurda (8pe)
Photo from AutopsyofMargaretMurdugh (48)

© DNAReportJune25,2021(18pg)
~ DNAReportJuly25,2021(17 pg)~ CS PhotosEvidenceProcesing - (445)* CS Photos/EvidenceProcessing - (357)
~ L21.09074LabPhotos of Shotgun (30)
© FAReport uy23,2021(10 pg)
© MerosdesOLSProcessingPhotos(138)
LabPhotosofVictim'sClothing(200)© EvidenceProcesing- 25)
ToesRegorts (4)

- 1Juwe1s,201© Zweigaml
© 3.September20,2021
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+ 4.October25,2021
© VisualObservationofAlexMurdaughshitat SED Forensics Laboratory (Didnot

Handle) December 8, 2022
- Visitio 4167 MozelleLn(December12,2022)
© Counation stMUSCwD.Riemer (1216722)
© (12)pageReport id“Homicide Investigationof[PaulandMargaretMurdaugh BOA

‘Case 2022-01 SC:IsuedbyTomBevel ofBevel Gpriner & Associates (0329722)
~ 3pageBevelAddendum (12/18/2022) l

OVERVIEW OF INITIAL CRIME SCENE 4147 MOZKLLE LN.
“Thedouble homicidetookplace st ak-9keane onthe. ef reper ood Al Migs
(Attachment1). It vasmy undesanding tat the froperty bad been uilzed5tn
oudoorhuningretreatbyprevious owners.Thepropefty iverylarge withsmallpines,
hardwoods, openfeds,a large house residence), a.m dos, purpose ip ng,
andseperse.9 keane). The propery alsocontained severdfoutldingsta shedstat viewed
Som a distancebut didnot examine. PaulMardaughhd benshottwo timeswithashogunin
{beconfinesof afedudroom(atwascomneceto fer coveredbutoutdoordog runs
(Attachment.2),Palwas discoveredontecovered side outside thedoooftis roomand
‘wasdiscovered prone (facedown)onthe cemeat. of {(Atachment3).MaggieMardaugh
Was a shor distan avayadwas locaedNV a he cod 4 he repurposedhangerGis owa
Coveredsed.MaggieMardaughwsespron (iced) endhad succumbedoseve
gunshots fom aile(Attachment4).Alex Mirdaugh rete that he had discoveredthetwo
Victimsuponbisrtumtothepropery.
‘Gunshot WoundstoMargaretMardsugh:
Prt)etl sequence ofwoundsreceived.

1. Gunshotto anatomical lef sid oftoro. Grazing Win othe abdomenwihprjectie
ravelngupwardthrough thet rest. Bult coffnues totheowerfw,face,

eich) exttlocated.
Terminal/mmediatedeath.

2. Gunshottoeftwrist Entranceondorsal ide with exiton ventral sidefro-fta).
3. Gunshottoefthigh Entranceofwoundismed font back,downwardsale 0
tightangle,Exitwound s apparentonthe backofigh. This woundcontainsstppling
(210), no soot (non-fatal. 1

4. Gunshottobackofscap/head.Anatomical right, hfminal immediatesevere bran
Inry Ets head andravesnoupper shoulder ck reasdownward tectoy.

5. Gunshot upper abdomen. Entranceon anatomic right sideofabdomen (r. To et,
{fronttoback). Potential fatalbutnot immediate,Severeorgan damage. Exit wound on
owerleftsideofback.This woundcontainsstopi (3 in.) nosoot.Smiar angle to
wound number3.

3
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‘Gunshot Woundsto Paul Murdanugh:

Documentedas (Aand B).Thealphabet assignmentdoes ft notesequenceofwoundsreceived.

‘A. Shotgunwound oshoulderaodbead smalgame | ————
travelingin anatomicalleftto right direction.Eng lef sideofnecksndproceedsinto
head.Brain wasseveredandexitedthrough the apftomical rightsideofhead. Upward

; tjectory, slighlyfronttobeck.Brainwaschpupletely detachedfombead.No
/ sootistippling, Temminal/immediatedeath. |

B.Shotgunwound chest (buckshot). Baranceon andaica leftside of chestnea midice.
Stpplngi presatonantomicllef side of enfuce ound.Left to ightjectory
exiting let sid ofchest andunderarm. Pinkplast]wadispresentinexitchestwound.
Shotspreadsend continuedthrough lef upperarm.

Twelve (12)Investigative Questions

1-1:Whati th orderofthe shotgun woundstoPaul Murdaugh (shotsequence)?
1Q-2: WhereIs theshooterpositioned fo the two (2) ships to Paul?

—
‘Theshot alongthemidline of Paul'sches wastheistypundthat hesutaiaed.Thesecond
and finalshotwasto bisleftshoulder, nto his jaw,and fcting hishead.

First wound: |
a. Thsshotwasdelivered from several feeawayas Ppulstood just shyoftheapproximate

center ofthefeed100m (Attachment-S).
b. Hisposition wasfacing slightly SW atthetimeof fhe buckshotpenetration.Afterenry
(arg,angled wound),thebuckshottraveled sulfutaneously acrosshisletchestand
exitedunder isarm. I

c. Most oftheshot thenenteredthe undersideofthe 4ft arm andexitedagainon theoutside
of theupperam. I
Thispositoni supportedbythecontinuedpai of itleastseven (7)buckshotpelletsthat
continued through the windowpenestthe rearof1 feed room (Attachment0.

c. Anopenshotcuporwad wasvisibleat th exit poi under heleftan.
£90 ornear90-degree blooddropsonthecement phow thatPaulwasstilstandingbutmovin Sos tevard he dot(htchment ||
8. Partial FWimpressionsinthe blooddroplets suppaffs Paul'smovementtowardsthedoor.

.
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b.. Blood andbodyfluids, thecontinuedpath of bucks throughthe windowpenes,andthelou ofth shoul bid heda wolf pce heshoots anda1 ov
slightlyoutsidetheroom'sdoor approximately Hidline ofthefeedroom,withthe
breachofthe shotgunInsidethe room (Att

Second Wounds: |

A. Thesecond woundtoPauloccured at the thresld ofthefeedroom door andwas
immeditelyterminal (Attachment). I

B. Thisshot wasunliketh firstwoundinthatthis fund vasproducedbyashosbel of
smallshot, commonly referedto as birdshot, BB if, orchillsho.

C. Theshot toPaul'shedeatere long the topofhil efshoulder,and intobisletchock
areaat an angleupwardintothebrainbefore exiting fhe toprightportionofthehead.1D. Paul'sheight of58”,andthe sharpangle upviads, proximately 135degrecsupwould
support that Paul'slefside wasdippingslightly, hd beadslightyforwarda bewas
standingo xiing thefeed room a theieofthe fond sh.

E. Blood, tsue, load volume,andbodyfluidson fhe door,andspecificallyth upper
doorframe,directionality,void reastothe west {de of door frame(Atiachment-10),
spatterdocumentedontheSW sideofshelved tesInsidethedoor (Attachment.11),
andthepositionofthe severedbrainwouldplactheshooteroutsidethedortothe
‘westsideofentry.

F. Thelengthoftheshotgunwouldbeneededfor  redsonable degre ofcertainty,butitis
unlikely thatteshootervassandingwith  shouldEre weapon a the ime of th second

1Q3: Canthesequenceofshotsto Margaret'sbodybe

abdomen) have simiar ange, tipping, and trajectory. THdse twowounds wouldgenerally not
cause Immediate death or Immobllty. Gunshot wound (et wrist) may or may not be aContnuatonofgunshotwounds strictoe).Get 2woksob dered nck

Tethal In mostcases I snot acontinuation of theupwarl eft torsowound. Gunshotwound 2
could betheresultsoftheproject ocatedin the doghoutt duetots lack of Incapaciationand
the unknown movements of Margaret andtheshooter Estates o lector directionandrangeare notsufficientwithou testfingthesameweaponwit sameammunitiontomeasure with
certainty.Th location of catrdgecasings wouldonlyprof apossbl location oftheshooter
and orgreand are subjective de o thelr unknownmien.Threlore, |mus basemy
opiniononthephyskallocaton an positionofthe deceaskl, bullet path ofknownwounds, and
physicaldamagecausedbythosewounds

s
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~ Gunshot wounds 1 and & would cause Immediatd ncapacitation and would cease al
movement.

- Lackingevidencethat Margaret's body had beenfloved or manipulated, the evidence
suggeststhatgunshotwound2,3, and 5weretlefrstseriesofshotsdeliveredto
Margaret

~The exactsequencecantbedeterminedexceptthede three woundswerereceived in an
upright or semk-upright positon priortothetwowandsthat were Immediatelyfatal.

- There was no evidence that Margarets bodyvgs supine, or had been moved or
manipulated (blood pool, blood run).

= Therewerenoprojectileslocated nthesoll undemng thth deceasedthatwouldsuggest
anear90degrees shot downward.

10:3: Opinion

tismyopinionthatgunshotwound 1wouldhave Hgen deliveredafter2,3,and 5 from
Margaret'slef side, andfrombehind.Thisshooter ‘wouldexplainthegrazing
‘woundtoherabdomen,paththroughthe left ,and Intoherhead.Margaret's
position wouldhave been proneor nearly prone herself uponherknees andat
least herrighthandwithhershouldersandheadfown.Gunshotwound 2wouldbe
includedinthissequence tsnot theprojectile se.Thefinalshot(84)would
havebeenfrom distanceandtravellingthrough. ofMargaret'sheadandInto
herupperback (opposite direction ofgunshot wound).

104:ArethebloodstainsonAlex'swhitetshirt Withbackspatterfrom agunshot?

~ 100 plus stabsonthe frontofthe neck areaofwhite tshirt (tansfers/projected blood
stains)

- mm
- Enhanced w/leuco CrystalViolet (LCV)
- Cuttingalready token
~ Evidence processing photos/reports/analysls

10:4:Opinion

Thefrontofthewhitet-shirtcontainswhat betransferand spatter
stains.Thelowerand largerstains arenotspatter ffonyspeedbuttransferfrom
anotherobject (See 10-5:Opinion). Thasmalle stip that arepresentaftertreatment
WithLCVappeartobehighvelocity impactstains.Thesestains arecharacterizedas
being-1mminsize, andbasedonmy experience: causedby agunshotorhigh
speedmachinery. ighspeedmachinerywouldnt] bedefinedInthiscaseas
a rlorsimilarobjectbutbyanymechanismwith houghdisruptiveforcetodistribute
andproject blood over100fps. Afterconsiderationdfthe origina opinion, analysis

6
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reports,andfllow-upexperimentation,thisexpertfan renderanopinion on 10-4
above.

10:5:Arethe 1004spatterstainson thefrontof shirtthe resultofusingthetshirt towipe
theface?

~The photographsofthetshirt exhibit at leattwoldistincttypesofbloodstans, and In
twoareas.

~The fstwouldbethe maltple small stains near fhetop neck andchestareaofthe
garment.

~ Thelarger stainato near thefrontbottomwouldi thesecondtypeblood stan.
~ BWC videodepletsAlex Murdaughwiping hisface 31dforeheadwiththesecond/bottom
area,with his hands on the insideof thegarment.

10:5:Opinion

tismyopinion tha thebottomstainsrep oof atransferofspattr rom
oneareatotheshirt bywayofawipe. Awipeswhe anobjectmeetsanotherobject
thatalreadycontain blood (BWCvideo). Alex Murcughwipedhisface andforohead
withthe areaofthetshirt thatnow contains theafersainTheshirtIn thi casecould
havewipe theblood from the faceforehead.The100+smallerstainsatthetpofthe
shirtattheneck/chest areaaredistinctydiferentalddonotrepresent  transfrfrom
wipingtheface.

10-6: Whattypeof bloodstainingwouldbeexpectedtbeonthefacefromcheckingtwo
deceasedbodies forapulseortrying to oll onebodyoveito ts ackbut alligtodoso?

~ Both victim's received immediate andterminal
- Noheartbeat(pumping bood).
- Noexpectoratedblood.
~ Attemptingtroll body wouldproduce elongatedtypespatterstainsbut only owandat
shoelevel

10:6: Opinion
Inmyopinion,the nlytypeofbloodtai that wogidbeexpectedtobeontheface
‘Wouldbe atransfer swipe)patternfromchackingHesigns of if(body-hand-face).

7
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10:7: Canthe position fortheshooterforMargaret's shocking beIdentified?

‘Margaret has(5)gunshot wounds.Gunshatswoun | ft thigh) and gunshot wound5
(upper abdomen) have similar range, stpping, and trofectory. These two wounds would
senerallynotcauseimmediatedeatho mobil.Gunsotwound 2 (eftwrist) mayo may
not be a continuation of gunshot wound 1 (snatomicalJp side). Gunshot 2 would also be
considerednot lethal In most cases Isnot acontinual ofthe upwardlft torsowound.
‘Gunshotwound 2 could betheresus of theprojec ocsjed in thedoghouseduetosackof
Incapaciationandthe unknown movementsof Margaret 4d the shooter.

1a:7: Opinion

1smyopinion thatanexact positonoftheshooter cinnot bedeterminedInrelation to
Margaret.” Themostaccurateinformationavaiable td narrowdownthepositonofthe

shooter'sposition Is thephysical locationandpostionof fhedeceased,bullet pathofknown
Wounds, stipplingor lack thereof, andphysicaldamagecise bythosewounds, Estimatesto
ejectordirection andrangeareRosuffcentwithouttedfringthe sameweaponwithsame
ammunidontomessirewthcerany. Th locaton of clrdge casingswoudnlyprovides
possiblelocationoftheshooter and Margaret and arp thereforesubjectiveduetothelr
unknown movements(10:3,Kinsey,2022).

10-8: Howdoesenvironmentalfactorsandphysical manifiation oftheshirt affectthe stains
observed? 1

~ Environmental factors such as (extreme) heat, huffy, malsture, mold, mildew, and
physical manipulationofawetgarmentcan afec heappearanceof bloodstains on a
garment rior tothe garmentbeing dred.

~ Shapeandtypeofstain wouldremainconstantaftergarmentis sufficiently dried but
couldfadeordarken nappearanceovertime If no broperly dred,packaged,and stored
Incontrolledconditions.

10-8: Opinion

In myopinion,environmentalfactorscan affect theldppearanceof loodstainsona
garmentifthegarment i exposedtoharsh conditics andifthegarmentIsnotproperly
dried and handled.Bloodstainsthat ara present o ts that havebeen properly
riod, packaged, processed,andare(xed)wil retaisthei shape,but mayfadeover

timeIfexposedtothedescribedextremacondtion}sstated above.
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19:Wouldtheshooterforeither victim gatblood back spftteron theirpersonor clothing?

Paul

~ Distanceofshooter(several ft),lackofbloodandtisue letting, and angleof Paulwould
Hikelynotproducebackspatteronshooterforgunsfpt wound (#1).

- Birdshotclose to muzzleendofweapon (12).
+ Possibityofback spatteron (#2) shotgunwas shol{dered duetoshotdirection, gravity,

‘and scatteringofsmall pellets inside open wounds.
- proportionatelymorebloodandtissueblow backwplidbeexpectedHf shooterwascloser
tothe muzzle endofweapon.

Margaret

~ Twogunshot woundsexhibited stppling (£3 & 45).
- Neitherwerecloseproximitytoeachother.
- Remaining woundswerefromadistancegreatertha wouldbeexpectedtoprojectbood.

1:3: Opinion

1s my opinionthatthefatalshottoPaulsshould andheadwouldlikely
produce enoughbackspatter (#2),andwouldbewithin rangetocontaminate
theshooter.Thisamountwouldproduceverysmall (1m+100fps)of
projectedblood InthedirectionoftheshooterIf the weaponandfiringna
paralleltothegroundposition. The likelypresence ofblooddropletsandothertissue
‘Would Increase inquantityIf theshooterwasnotbelfindthestock,but waspositioned
closertothe muzzle endoftheweapon(increasain ingle, gravity).

‘Addonally, theonly gunshotwoundon Margaretthat wouldbesufficienttoproduce
backspatter would be GSW (#4), duetodistance, orprecisaentryofbullet
(singleprojectilevs.shotgunpellets). However,thisf{soundwouldnotprojectbioodand
tissuefar anough Inmostcasestocontaminatethe footer.

s
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10.10: Doesthephysicalevidencesupport astruggle Paulandtheshootergiventhe
shottoischest?

-_ Stippingonanatomical eft sideof chest wound.
- Paullsangied.

10:20:Opinion

11dentifiednophysical evidencethat wouldsuggestorsjoport astrugglebetween Pauland
theshooter. |

10:11:Couldtheshooterbeproneor kneeling onthe ddmentatthetimeoftheshoulder:
headshot?

1:11: Opinion
G. Paul'sheight of58",and thesharpangle upward bpproximately 135degreesupwould

support that Paul'sletside wasdippingslightly,Hodbeadslightyforwardas he wesitingorcigte vdroo he of fend shot.
H.Blood,tissue, bloodvolume,andbody fluidson hedoor,andspecificallytheupper
doarframe,directionality,vodareas to thefestsideofdoorframe, spatter
‘documentedontheSW sideofshelvedtems insidethedoor,andthepositon ofthe
velapesheuleforbn de elar

“The length oftheshotgunwouldbeneededfo a resgfable degreeofceaity,butts
unlikely thattheshooterwasstandingwith  shouldeK weapon o he timeofthesecond
discharge (10-1 & 2 Opinion:Kinsey,2022) |

10-12:Whatsthe bastexplanation forhow thecll phon dislodgedfromPaul's backpocket?

- Reportedtohavebeencard In rearpocket.
- Hasticontop.
~ Located anddocumentedonpocket.
~ BloodtransferredInsidetopbandofpocket.
© Wasnot removedfrom pocketbyPau aferscoldgunshotwound.

10-12: Opinion

181smyopinionthatthephon wasremovedfromPau rearpocketbysomeoneotherthan
Paul,andaftrthefatal sho.Thabloodsti Insideof Pocketwasproducedduringphone's
retrieval,andpriortophone’placementon topoftherg pocket.
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1 specifically reserve the righttoamend, alter, and/r supplement this Affidavit and
‘my Expert Opinions contained herein should new irfformation become available.

1 hereby render the above expert opinions (11 pages + the following A-L
Attachments) regarding the homicides of Pauland Maggie Murdaugh, occurring
June 6, 2021. The undersigned, under the pains and penalties of perjury, affirms

that the foregoing facts are true to the best of my abilities.

Zz dzpd
5 Kenneth Coe Kinsey 7

THUS,DONE and SIGNED beforeme, NOTARYPUBLICtis 1] day ot sanuar,2025.

NelieacPuhott:
(Print) on

¢ Tok [ £36, 80CH
pis, GC Pore

Signed) FN Sg
Lewd

NotaryPublic South Carolia PUBS
MyCommission Expires ALC. 1. iH CS

u
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